DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v. No. 18-0101

McGINNIS E. HATFIELD, JR.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806]
Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Renée N. Frymyer [Bar No. 9253]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfrymyer@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
City Center East, Suite 1200C
4700 MacCorkle Avenue, S.E.
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

This is a lawyer disciplinary proceeding against Respondent McGinnis E. Hatfield, Jr. (hereinafter "Respondent"), arising as the result of a Statement of Charges issued against him and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia on or about February 9, 2018. The Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals served the Statement of Charges upon Respondent by certified mail on or about February 13, 2018. Thereafter, on or about March 7, 2018, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel timely filed her mandatory discovery upon Respondent. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about March 23, 2018, and "Respondent's Discovery Disclosures," on or about April 9, 2018. No pre-trial motions were filed by either party.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia, at the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC") on June 14, 2018. The presiding Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") comprised of Steven K. Nord, Esquire, Chairperson; Anne Werum Lambright, Esquire; and Dr. K. Edward Grose, Layperson. Renée N. Frymyer, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the ODC. John W. Feuchtenberger, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also appeared. The HPS heard testimony from B.W. and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-24 were admitted into evidence.

On or about February 10, 2020, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report"). The HPS found that the evidence established that Respondent had violated

¹ Because of the sensitive nature of the facts alleged in this case, initials are used herein for the victim. See State v. Edward Charles L., 183 W.Va. 641, 645 n. 1, 398 S.E.2d 123, 127 n.1 (1990). See also Rule 40(e)(1) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Rule 7.3(b)(2) and Rule 8.4(a) and (b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The HPS recommended the following sanctions:

- 1. That Respondent's law license be annulled; and
- Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15
 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

Thereafter, on February 19, 2020, the ODC filed its consent to the recommendation of the HPS pursuant to Rule 3.11 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. On March 9, 2020, Respondent filed his objection to the recommendation. On March 9, 2020, the Supreme Court of Appeals entered an order that the matter be briefed by the parties, and scheduled it for oral argument under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT

- Respondent is a suspended lawyer who last practiced in Bluefield, located in Mercer County, West Virginia.² Respondent was admitted to the West Virginia State Bar on May 20, 1975, by diploma privilege. As such, he is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. [Admitted]
- By complaint received by the ODC on August 29, 2013, Complainant B.W. alleged that in August of 2013, she asked Respondent to represent her in a divorce action in Mercer County, West Virginia. [Ex. 1]
- 3. B.W.'s complaint stated that Respondent asked whether she had One Thousand Five

On or about November 13, 2018, Respondent's law license was administratively suspended for nonpayment of annual active membership fees and/or noncompliance with the State Bar's Financial Responsibility Disclosure Notice.

Hundred Dollars (\$1,500.00) for his services. When she informed Respondent that she did not have the money, B.W. alleged that Respondent indicated that he would represent her in exchange for sexual relations. [Ex. 1]

- B.W.'s complaint further stated that Respondent persisted in trying to get sexual favors from her in exchange for representation. [Ex. 1]
- With her complaint, B.W. provided copies of six separate audio recordings which she claimed contained telephone conversations with Respondent wherein he requested sex from B.W. in exchange for his representation in her divorce. [Hrg. Tr. 10]
- 6. Below are excepts from the recordings provided by B.W.:

Respondent: ". . . Did you take your papers over to the courthouse?"

B.W.: "No not yet because I have to go over there tomorrow."

Respondent: "Well, take them there and show them to them face to face, show them what you've got and say, look, I need to have forms for me to file, you know, to reply to this."

B.W.: "I know, but I thought like when we first started out, I was just going to pay you. I didn't know that you wanted sex out of the whole thing."

Respondent: "Well, I'd have to charge you like 1,500 bucks. You don't have \$1,500, do you?"

B.W .: "No."

Respondent: "So come on out here. Just come. What time do you want to come?"

Respondent: ". . . [I]t's just not going to work unless you do what I say."

B.W.: "What do you want me to do?"

Respondent: "You know what I want you to do. I told you."

B.W.: "Well, I'm a little confused."

Respondent: "Well, there's nothing to be confused about."

B.W.: "Well, what do you want me to do?"

Respondent: "Well, I want you to let me eat your p****, and then I want you to let -I want you to suck my d***, and then, you know, I just have to -I'm as straightforward as I can be. And if you don't want to do that, then fine. I don't have any -I like you. And if you don't want to do that, then we'll just have to call it off."

B.W.: "Is that not - all right. That's fine. Whatever."

Respondent: "Is that okay?"

B.W.: "I mean no, not really because I'm not a whore."

* * *

Respondent: "... And like I said, if you won't want to do that, then that's fine by

me. I wish you luck. And if you don't want to do that, then I'm not going to try to represent you. So that's a benefit for you. And I'll give you some money, too[.]"

Respondent: "Why did you hang up on - why did you hang up on me?"

B.W.: "Because I'm not really that type of person, like I'm not just going to up and have sex with people."

Respondent: "... You know, I'm shooting straight with you. I told you from the beginning that sex was important to me. I want some now. Nobody's tried to trick you. And it would be safe, too. But anyway, if you don't want to do it, that's fine by me, honey, but you'll have to get somebody to help you with your divorce, too."

B.W.: "Okay, That's fine."

[Ex. 2 and Ex. 21]

- By letter dated August 30, 2013, the ODC mailed Respondent a copy of B.W.'s complaint and directed him to file a verified response within twenty (20) days. [Ex. 3]
- In his timely-filed response, Respondent stated as follows, in totality: "In response to your letter dated August 30, 2013, in regards of complainant [B.W.] there was no attorney/client relationship." [Ex. 4]
- 9. On November 5, 2013, B.W. provided a Statement Under Oath to Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel in which she verified that the female voice contained on the recordings was hers and the male voice contained on the recordings was that of Respondent. B.W. also stated that Respondent's offer made her feel very uncomfortable, and that she never proceeded to have a sexual relationship with him. [Ex. 23 at pp. 13; 19; 25]
- 10. On or about March 31, 2014, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed a Motion to Stay Complaint in which she requested the proceedings with respect to the above-referenced ethics complaint be stayed based upon the knowledge that in or about October of 2013, Respondent had sustained a significant brain injury and, as a result, had been residing in a nursing facility. At that time, it was unknown when and if Respondent would recover from his injury, but it was

- the understanding of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel that he was no longer competent to practice law and was on "inactive" status with the State Bar. [Ex. 6, 8, 9, 10]
- Respondent received his head injury due to a fall that occurred while he was drunk. [Hrg. Tr.
 57]
- On or about March 31, 2014, the Investigative Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board voted to place the complaint on administrative stay until which time Complainant returned to the active practice of law. [Ex. 11 at 000059]
- 13. By letter dated May 25, 2017, James J. Palmer, III, Esquire, advised the ODC that Respondent had agreed to reactivate his law license in order to supervise Mr. Palmer's law practice.³ Mr. Palmer's letter also provided an updated address for Respondent. [Ex. 13]
- 14. Thereafter, by letter dated May 31, 2017, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel provided to Respondent at his updated address a copy of B.W.'s complaint and asked that he update the ODC with the current status of his health. [Ex. 14]
- The State Bar subsequently advised the ODC that on July 18, 2017, Respondent had reactivated his law license. [Admitted]
- 16. By letter dated July 24, 2017, Respondent stated that his health was "good" and that he had "completely recovered from the traumatic brain injury." Respondent further stated that he did not now, nor had he ever, represented B.W. [Ex. 15 at 000272]
- At its meeting on September 23, 2017, the Investigative Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary
 Board voted to lift the previously-granted stay. [Ex. 17]

³ Mr. Palmer had previously been ordered by the Supreme Court of Appeals to undergo six months of probation with his practice supervised by an active attorney in his geographic area in a separate disciplinary proceeding.

- On October 26, 2017, Respondent appeared at the ODC, with counsel, to provide a sworn statement. [Admitted]
- 19. At his sworn statement, Respondent confirmed that he had listened to the audio recordings submitted with B.W.'s complaint and that it was his voice on the recordings. Respondent asserted that it sounded, to him, like he was "joking with her." [Ex. 20 at 000325-000326]
- Respondent admitted that he is an alcoholic, but had been sober for approximately four (4)
 years. [Ex. 20 at 000323; Hrg. Tr. 62]
- Respondent does not participate in recovery programs, however, nor does he attend
 Alcoholics Anonymous meetings. [Ex. 20 at 000323; Hrg. Tr. 62]
- 22. At the hearing, B.W. testified that she had asked Respondent to represent her in a divorce and, because she did not have the money for a retainer at the time, asked if she could make payments to him. B.W. said that is when Respondent started asking her for sexual favors.
 [Hrg. Tr. 9]
- 23. B.W. testified that she recorded some of her conversations with Respondent because one is "not supposed to talk to anyone that way." B.W. also testified that it made her feel "horrible" and "disgusting" when Respondent said the things contained in or on the recordings [Ex. 2 was played during B.W.'s testimony]. [Hrg. Tr. 12; 18]
- B.W. believed Respondent was attempting to solicit her into committing an act of prostitution. [Hrg. Tr. 13]
- B.W. stated that it was her understanding that Respondent would not handle her divorce unless she had sex with him. [Hrg. Tr. 51]
- 26. B.W. testified that she never had sexual relations with Respondent. [Hrg. Tr. 13]

- 27. B.W. was ultimately unable to retain counsel for her divorce hearing, as she said she could not afford counsel at that time and did not have any trust in lawyers. [Hrg. Tr. 14-15]
- 28. B.W. also testified that the situation with Respondent prompted her to seek treatment form a psychiatrist, whom she has seen approximately once a month since these incidents occurred in 2013, although she admitted that other factors also contributed to her seeking treatment.
 [Hrg. Tr. 19; 22]
- Respondent agreed at the hearing that he had offered to represent B.W. in her divorce in exchange for sex. [Hrg. Tr. 67]⁴
- 30. Respondent doubted that he would have allowed B.W. to make payments to him in exchange for his representation, because he was tired of doing divorces and just wanted sex. [Hrg. Tr. 69]
- Respondent acknowledged that because B.W. had been employed as an exotic dancer, he
 thought that she might be amenable to having sex with him in exchange for some other
 compensation. [Hrg. Tr. 75]
- 32. Respondent referred to B.W. as "not your average perspective [sic] client" because she had performed a lap dance for him, and when he was asked if clients came in all different shapes, sizes, professions, sexes, etc., his unexpected response was, "Perfect example, I like gypsies as clients. They're always in trouble and they always have money." [Hrg. Tr. 73; 100]

⁴ Respondent was inadvertently not sworn under oath prior to his testimony at the hearing. With his proposed findings filed on or about August 28, 2018, Respondent also provided an attestation that he swore to his testimony at that hearing.

- 33. Respondent said that he thought what he had going on with B.W. was a "dating scenario."

 He said he "wanted to take her out and give her money," and "maybe barter a little dating,"

 and, in this case, "trade the representation for sex." [Hrg. Tr. 103-104]
- 34. Although he could not explain why and he testified that she never asked him for money, he felt "victimized" by her and felt that she had set him up for a fall. [Hrg. Tr. 100-101]

C. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Rules of Professional Conduct have long prohibited a lawyer from having sexual relations with a client whom the lawyer personally represents during the legal representation unless a consensual sexual relationship existed between them at the commencement of the lawyer/client relationship. The HPS determined that B.W. was a prospective client of Respondent at the time the voice recordings contained in evidence were made, and that the record was clear that she was seeking to form a client-lawyer relationship with Respondent with respect to her divorce proceeding.

The HPS properly found that by using inappropriate, sexually-harassing conduct during telephone contact with B.W., a prospective client in a domestic matter, while soliciting professional employment, Respondent violated Rule 7.3(b)(2) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, provided as follows:

Rule 7.3. Direct contact with prospective clients.

[Effective prior to January 1, 2015]

(b) A lawyer shall not solicit professional employment from a prospective client by written or recorded communication or by inperson or telephone contact even when not otherwise prohibited by paragraph (a) if:

4 4

(2) the solicitation involves coercion, duress or harassment.

³ Rule 8.4(g) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, effective until January 1, 2015; Rule 1.8(j) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, effective January 1, 2015.

The HPS also was correct in finding that by making sexual advances in an attempt to create a sexual relationship with a client or a prospective client in exchange for his professional services, Respondent violated Rule 8.4(a) and (d), provided as follows:

Rule 8.4. Misconduct.

[Effective prior to January 1, 2015]

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another;

* * *

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice[.]

Finally, the HPS appropriately found that Respondent had committed the criminal acts of solicitation of another to commit an act of prostitution, in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-8-5(b), 6 and therefore violated Rule 8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, provided as follows:

Rule 8.4. Misconduct.

[Effective prior to January 1, 2015] It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

* * *