**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS FOR
THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA**

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v.

NO. 18-0101

McGINNIS E. HATFIELD, JR.,

Respondent.



**RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TO
BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD**

John W. Feuchtenberger, Esquire
WV BAR # 1192
Feuchtenberger & Barringer Legal Corporation
PO Box 5726
Princeton, WV 24740
(304) 425-5198 (phone)
(304) 487-2350 (fax)
jwfeuch@fblegalcorp.com (email)

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Respondent, McGinnis E. Hatfield, Jr. (hereinafter “Respondent”) generally agrees with the Board’s summary of the proceedings but not its recommendation. Respondent notes that the Hearing Panel Subcommittee heard this matter June 14, 2018 and rendered its recommendation February 10, 2020 a year and almost 8 months later.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. At the time of the events described in the Complaint and in the Sworn Statements and testimony of the Complainant BW (hereinafter “BW”) and Respondent Hatfield (hereinafter “Hatfield”), Hatfield was a 63-year-old divorced, alcoholic lawyer in undiagnosed poor health (within two months he would be hospitalized and in hospital and nursing care for the next year and two months as a Protected Person.)

2. BW was a married woman, mother of two children, estranged from and being divorced by her husband and pregnant through a relationship outside marriage (Bates 0000300 and Bates 0000312). (All Bates references are to the transcript of hearing of June 14, 2018). She was a stripper at the “Cherry Bomb”, a “Gentlemen’s Club” in Bluefield, Mercer County, West Virginia, and an occasional office worker.

3. Hatfield and BW had met twice prior to the events described in the testimony and materials

filed with the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter HPS). The first was at the “Cherry Bomb”, a so-called “Gentlemen’s Club.” While BW alleges not to remember lap dancing with Hatfield, she does admit he “probably gave her money. (Bates 000028, 000029). Hatfield and his affiant witness, Dr. Joseph M. Ascue, testify that this was a nude lap dance where BW sat in Hatfield’s lap naked “dancing” and for which she was paid. (Bates 000277, 000300) Their next, and last, in-person contact was at a Mexican restaurant in Bluefield (Bates 000033). BW apparently gave Hatfield her phone number and the calls complained of began.

4. There were a total of 34 calls between the parties, 18 from Hatfield to BW, and *16 from BW to Hatfield*. In only 9 of these calls did conversation of more than a minute ensue, and the longest - 9 minutes, *was made from BW to Hatfield* (Exhibit 24, Hearing of June 14 2018). Because of the importance of these calls made by BW to Hatfield this Exhibit is again attached to this Brief as Exhibit 1.

5. Although BW was a party to a divorce and had brief conversations with Hatfield concerning it, she never considered him her lawyer. (Bates 000035).

6. Hatfield did not receive or secure any pleadings from B.W, filed no notice of appearance, and never saw her at his office. Other than their exchange of money for sexual favors/contacts at the “Cherry Bomb” and a brief meeting at a Mexican Restaurant, they never met again.

7. At the times Hatfield and BW exchanged the 34 telephone calls in evidence, 18 from him, 16 from her, he and BW had a pre-existing sexual contact interaction, for which BW was paid.

8. BW never, in the calls she made to Hatfield or received from him, refused to talk to him, refused to return his call, or directed him not to call her again.

9. BW falsely swore in the verified Complaint to the Lawyer Disciplinary Committee, that

Hatfield had called her 60 times a day from mid-August to the date of the Complaint. At the hearing before the HPS, confronted with the phone records subpoenaed by Disciplinary Counsel, she claimed her kids were playing with her phone.

10. At some point between the last of the Hatfield-BW calls at issue on August 25, 2013 and her hand-delivery of her Complaint to the Disciplinary Board on August 25, 2013, BW retained private counsel to investigate a claim against Hatfield. (Bates 000002)

11. BW called back Hatfield multiple times, intending to record his calls, and was leading him on in those calls.

12. While Hatfield denied wanting to have sex with BW in his sworn statement, he acknowledged that was a misstatement at the June 14, 2018 hearing. His tone in his recorded statements is jocular and attempting to be persuasive, not threatening or harassing.

13. BW falsely claimed in her sworn Complaint that Hatfield left a business card in her door, and that he called her, alleging that he was “untouchable.” These claims are notably absent from her testimony before the HPS and are further belied by her failure to preserve any tape of such an outrageous claim, or present the alleged card left at her door. Hatfield did not know where she lived.

14. BW provided no documentary or corroborative evidence of her alleged psychiatric consultations.

C. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Prior to any interaction between BW and Hatfield that could conceivably be called lawyer-potential client contact. Hatfield and BW had sexual contact, for which Hatfield had given BW money. West Virginia Code §61-8B-1(6) defines sexual contact as “. . . any intentional touching, either directly or through clothing, of the breasts, buttocks, anus or any part of the next organs of

another person . . . for the purpose of gratifying the sexual desire of either party.”

2. Substantial portions of BW’s sworn testimony are false, specifically her claims that he called her 60 times a day from mid-August 2013 until he received the Lawyer Disciplinary Board Complaint in early September, that he claimed that he was “untouchable”(in an apparently unrecorded call) and that he had left a card in her door.

3. A secondary gain motivation on BW’s part cannot be ruled out, in that she obviously leads him on in the only two conversations that actually occurred between them (the other three recorded conversations were recorded messages), the lengthiest conversation, of 9.0 minutes on August 15, 2013, is obviously the one recorded and transcribed in BW’s sworn statement - Bates 000015-000020. BW made that call to Hatfield. Thereafter, BW retained civil counsel, prepared or had prepared a professionally typed Complaint, and hand delivered it several days after her last conversation with Hatfield.

4. No lawyer client relationship ever existed between Hatfield and BW.

5. BW may have been a potential client, but Hatfield at no point committed “coercion, duress, or harassment”, as prohibited by Rule 7.3(b)(2). There is no question of coercion and duress- the plain English meaning of each of these terms requires an element of actual or threatened force, entirely absent here. This obvious consensual relationship between BW and Hatfield of a nude lap dance, a brief restaurant encounter, and a series of back-and- forth telephone calls cannot qualify as harassment because BW voluntarily and willingly consented to these contacts, continued to return Hatfield’s calls and further independently called him. She gave him her private cell phone number; no point did she forbid him to call her.

6. The element of obvious voluntary consent to contact with Hatfield on BW’s part also